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Introduction

Just after 11.00 am on Wednesday, 25 August 1869, a train from Huddersfield pulled into the busy Kirkgate Station at Wakefield, smoke billowing from its chimney. It was met by Dr Holdsworth, mayor of the town, accompanied by a number of Wakefield gentlemen. They were assembled to greet Fairless Barber, Esq., secretary of the Huddersfield Archaeological and Topographical Society (which was soon to be renamed the Yorkshire Archaeological Society) who’d brought its members, and a large number of their wives and friends, on a special excursion to Wakefield. The visitors were about to embark on a grand tour of the town and its surroundings, breaking for a fine luncheon at the Great Bull Hotel at the top of Westgate.

The topographers were well aware of the rich history awaiting them in a town that had become a merchant powerhouse of the north by the nineteenth century. It had benefited from the Industrial Revolution and was built on the trades of wool, cloth and grain, possessing thriving markets and a fine array of civic and religious buildings. Its merchant princes, who’d made their fortunes from the success of the town’s commerce, lived in palatial mansions in Wakefield and its local townships and villages, their impressive carriages lining Westgate on certain evenings while they gathered at the theatre following days at the races.

A report on the excursion appeared in the local newspaper, the Wakefield Express, which read: ‘There are few towns in the West Riding, and we might add even in the broad county of York itself, that can boast so rich a store of important historical associations [than] the good old Saxon town of merry Wakefield.’ The account went on to describe the schedule for the tour, starting with the noble, spired parish church ‘within whose time-worn walls are woven so many interesting traditions of the past,’ followed by a visit to the ancient bridge and Chantry Chapel, with the report noting the ‘bloody fray’ that took place there. This was a reference to the Battle of Wakefield in 1460. The visitors would also take in the Six Chimneys, Heath Old Hall, Sandal Castle and other relics ‘around which our fancies play, weaving strange pictures of bygone days.’ But it wasn’t only Wakefield’s buildings that attracted the society, for special notice was paid to its ‘thriving townsfolk’ who ‘proved such gleesome company as to earn for it the cheerful cognomen of Merrie Wakefield.’

The society members weren’t the first topographers to visit the town, which appeared as Wachefeld in the Domesday Book and was once famed for its mystery plays. John Leland, the antiquary who’d been chaplain to King Henry VIII, embarked in 1538 on summer journeys throughout England and Wales, describing his observations of the locations he toured in notebooks, collectively known as his itinerary. The following is his account of what he found at Wakefield:


Wakefield upon Calder ys a very quick market-towne and meately large; well served of flesch and fische, both from the se and by rivers, whereof divers be thereabout at hande, so that al vitaile is very gode chepe there. A right honest man shal fare well for two pens a meale. In this towne is but one chefe chirche … There is also a chapel of our Ladye on Calder bridge … A quarter of a mile without Wakefeld apperith an hille of erthe cast up, wher sum say that one of Erles Warines began to build, and as faste as he builded violence of winde defaced the work. This is like a fable. Sum say that it was nothing but a wind mille hill. The place is now called Lohill. The faire bridge of stone of nine arches under the which rennith the river of Calder; and on the est side of this bridge, is a right goodly chapel of our Ladye … Al the hole profite of the toune stondith by course drapery. There be few townes yn the inwarde partes of Yorkshire that hath a fairer site or soile about it. There be plente of veines of se cole in the quarters about Wakefeld.



As well as commenting on the town’s industries, the parish church and Chantry Chapel, Leland had noted the apparent site of a castle at Lowe or Lawe Hill, located within what is now Thornes Park. It was believed to have been begun and then abandoned by one of the Warenne family (Earls of Surrey), who’d been granted the manor of Wakefield and estates at Sandal, where the second earl built Sandal Castle, originally from timber. The fabled castle at Lowe Hill is of continuing interest to the modern archaeologist. Indeed, it was announced in 2015 that the site was to be surveyed, with ambitious plans to excavate, sixty years after searches in the 1950s uncovered no hint of any stonework.

Later in the sixteenth century, antiquarian and topographer William Camden followed in Leland’s footsteps, and described what he’d seen at Wakefield in his opus Britannia. He wrote of a ‘towne famous for clothing, for greatnesse, for faire building, a well frequented mercate, and a bridge, upon which King Edward the Fourth erected a beautifull chappell in memoriall of those that lost their lives there in battaile’.

On 30 December 1460, Edward’s father, Richard, Duke of York, was killed in the Battle of Wakefield, and Edmund, Earl of Rutland, Edward’s brother, was murdered on or about Wakefield Bridge as he fled the battle, as portrayed in William’s Shakespeare’s King Henry VI Part 3. This led the unwitting to assume that the ancient chapel had been built in memory of those who’d fallen. Eighteenth-century prints (and modern reprints) of A Perspective View of the Chapell Adjoining to Wakefield Bridge, painted by George Fleming and engraved by William Henry Toms in 1743, also recorded that the chapel was built by King Edward IV in memory of his father and other nobles and gentry slain in the battle. But this assertion was wide of the mark. The Chantry Chapel predates the battle by over a century and was in fact built in stone in the 1300s, between 1342 and 1356. It was on 13 May 1356 when, in return for the sum of twenty marks, King Edward III granted a licence in mortmain vesting the property in the hands of two Wakefield chaplains named William Kay and William Bull.

Seventeenth-century historian and clergyman Dr Thomas Fuller, author of History of the Worthies of England, published posthumously, had wondered how the town came upon its nickname, Merrie Wakefield (or Merry, as he spelt it). He thought it wise not to dwell too deeply: ‘What peculiar cause of mirth this town has above others I do not know, and dare not too curiously inquire, lest I turn their mirth among themselves into anger against me.’

Daniel Defoe, author of Robinson Crusoe and Moll Flanders, visited the town in the eighteenth century, noting in one of his many letters, published in Curious and Diverting Journies thro’ the whole Island of Great Britain in 1734, that Wakefield was a ‘a large, handsome, rich clothing town, full of people, and full of trade’. He also spoke of the battle and the chantry, repeating the erroneous assertion about its founder. Defoe described being shown ground where, until it was removed by Cromwell’s troops, once stood ‘a large stone cross, in memory of that fatal battle; just upon that spot, the Duke of York fighting desperately, and refusing to yield, tho’ surrounded with enemies, was kill’d.’ He continued:


Wakefield is a clean, large, well-built town, very populous and very rich; here is a very large church, and well filled it is, for here are very few Dissenters; the steeple is a very fine spire, and by far the highest in all this part of the country … They tell us, there are here more people also than in the city of York, and yet it is no Corporation town; and the highest magistrate, as I understand, was a constable.

Here also is a market every Friday for woollen cloaths, after the manner of that at Leeds, tho’ not so great; yet as all the cloathing trade is encreasing in this country, so this market too flourishes with the rest; not but that sometimes, as foreign markets receive interruption either by wars, by a glut of the goods, or by any other incident, there are interruptions of the manufacture too, which, when it happen, the clothiers are sure to complain of loss of trade; but when the demand comes again they are not equally forward with their acknowledgments; and this, I observed, was the case every where else, as well as here.



Trade directories, or gazetteers, became popular during the nineteenth century and copies of these survive as a useful tool for genealogists and local historians. One of the best to cover Yorkshire was issued by Edward Baines in 1822 as a History, Directory & Gazetteer of the County of York in two volumes. Baines said that Wakefield was:


a large and opulent town delightfully situated, on the left bank of the Calder … The streets are, for the most part, regular, handsome, and spacious, and the houses which are principally of brick, are well built, large, and lofty. In the centre of the market, there is a small, but elegant cross of the Doric order of architecture, with an open colonnade supporting a dome, with an ascent by an open staircase to a spacious room, which is lighted by a lantern, in the dome, and in which room the commissioners of the streets hold their meetings, and other public business is transacted …

The public edifices in Wakefield may be distinguished as ancient and modern. The ancient buildings, are the Parish Church, the Chantry on the bridge, the Free Grammar School, the Charity School, and Haselden Hall; those of more modern date, are, St John’s Church, the Dissenters and Methodist Meeting Houses, the Court House, the Register Office for the West Riding, the Clerk of the Peace’s Office, the House of Correction, the West Riding Paper Lunatic Asylum, the Theatre, the Tammy-Hall, the Corn Exchange, and the Public Rooms. The Parish church which is dedicated to All-Saints, is a spacious and lofty Gothic structure, and may be ranked amongst the best Parish churches in the North of England.



In 1871, not long before he died, William Stott Banks, local lawyer and keen topographer and historian, compiled Walks in Yorkshire: Wakefield and its neighbourhood. This fine publication was available in two editions, one containing fifty-five woodcuts and the other, a rarity, was further illustrated by photographs of the district, produced by G. & J. Hall, Wakefield photographers, based at 26 Westgate. These images (some of which appear in this book, having been drawn from the collections of the Yorkshire Archaeological and Historical Society), along with Banks’s considered and informative text, offered the Victorian tourist visiting Wakefield ample information and illustration to educate and enlighten them as they followed the walks described therein.

In the first decade of the 1900s, the Wakefield City’s Tradesmen’s Association published a guide to Wakefield, which described the ‘City of Today’. It spoke of governance by a mayor, nine aldermen and twenty-seven councillors. It seemed that the city had gained notoriety for its sanitation and its sewage works, which the guide claimed ‘is so excellent as to form a model of its kind. Deputations have come from various parts of the world to view these works.’ Special praise was reserved for the ‘magnificent service of trams … Cars run from the centre of the city into the centre of Leeds, and also into the centre of the neighbouring town of Ossett, the other extremities of the routes being Sandal and Agbrigg.’ And by now Wakefield had become the administrative centre of the West Riding of Yorkshire. It operated Petty and Quarter Sessions Courts, a County Court and a Probate Registry. The guide also spoke of Wakefield’s two stations, Kirkgate and Westgate, and ‘excellent water communication by the Aire and Calder Navigation Co., to Goole, Grimsby, Hull etc.’

In the years that followed, the local corporation issued handbooks promoting the city. One of which, published in the 1950s, gave the following account:


Although Wakefield is a city strongly industrial in character, it also possesses the air of a country town and there are many pleasant walks in the vicinity.

A walk through the city will reward the sightseer with a view of many fine buildings both ancient and modern.

The Corporation have encouraged and assisted development in the centre of the city and Wakefield now has in the Bull Ring, Northgate and Kirkgate, a modern shopping centre which is unequalled by any other town of similar size!



But how has the city and its surroundings changed in the years since Baines, Banks and writers of the twentieth century, and those who came before them? And what stories of old Wakefield might be told anew to the modern reader?

The following pages, illustrated by contemporary and modern photographs (the latter taken by Caroline Rochford), and drawings by Kilby, Clarke, Fennell and others, do not attempt to tell the history of Wakefield; first published as a single volume in 1934, J.W. Walker’s Wakefield its History and People remains the standard work. In each chapter, glimpses of the past are taken and tales are told through eyewitness accounts, old books, contemporary sources, and newspaper reports of events that occurred in this proud town, lately a city and metropolitan district.

With the parish church as the starting and finishing point, this book follows the layout of the main medieval thoroughfares of Northgate, Kirkgate, Warrengate and Westgate. Some of the accounts, and especially so in the final chapter, allow for a departure to some of the villages outside the city, but the book’s essential focus is old Wakefield, with comparable images of then and now included alongside the narrative.

These are the tales of the people and landmarks that have made Wakefield not only a merry city, but an extraordinary one.

Michael J. Rochford
Wakefield, 2016





Chapter One

The Parish Church of All Saints, lately Wakefield Cathedral

Facing the west door, visitors to Wakefield Cathedral can’t help but feel a sense of awe at the sheer height of the spire, rising from the great tower and standing at a total of 247 feet tall, before they enter the church and behold an eclectic mix of ancient architecture and modern interior design. Victorian stalls and pews have come and gone, the nave now served by removable seating to allow multiuse of the space, for it isn’t only religious worship that takes place in this building, which dates back many centuries, but fairs, exhibitions and concerts, too. The site is Saxon, though the church Norman, with a surviving wall dating back to about 1150. The church was rebuilt in 1329 and improved in 1469. It has been refreshed and renewed several times over the years, notably in 1904, when the chancel, transept, a new crypt and St Mark’s Chapel were erected in a new east end extension, and not least in the current era, the nave being restored in 2012 and 2013, and major work on the quire completed in May 2016.

Many years ago, long before the 1904 extension, eighteenth-century veteran church sexton Peter Priestley lived in a little house close to the churchyard. He occupied it with his wife, Lidia, née Bradley, whom he’d married at the parish church on 23 November 1757. Priestley was a solemn man, taking his work very seriously. On Sundays he could be heard leading the congregation in their responses, calling out ‘amen’ a fraction of a second before everyone else followed suit. He was also responsible for cutting the letters of the names of Wakefield’s dearly departed into the stones destined to mark their graves until eternity, or at least until the grim Yorkshire weather bore them illegible. One night, which the Yorkshire Evening Post edition of 4 February 1925 reckoned was a Saturday about the year 1791, Peter had grave business to attend to on the ground floor of the church tower. There are several versions of this story, but a fact they all have in common is that Peter was wearing a bob-wig, the sort that is grey with a short ponytail and curls at either sides by the ears. In the first volume of his Yorkshire Oddities, author Sabine Baring-Gould, of Onward Christian Soldiers fame, informed his readers that the wig was the gift of Revered Michael Bacon, Doctor of Divinity, Vicar of Wakefield. Baring-Gould claimed that Reverend Bacon was prone to bouts of ire when he didn’t get his own way, and that this irritation would, on occasion, lead to the clergyman knocking his wig with his right hand in a temper, which in turn led to the gifted wig being rather misshapen by the time it came into the hands of the sexton. That night in 1791, when Peter set off to walk the short distance to the church, Lidia, as she always did, stopped her husband, straightened his wig, and wished him a safe return.

Gould insisted that the night in question was St Mark’s Eve, which falls on 24 April each year, a Sunday in 1791. It was said that upon the striking of midnight, apparitions of the souls destined to die that year would appear in churches on the eve of St Mark’s Day, each in possession of a corpse candle, led on an ethereal procession by a phantom priest, calling, in a softly tone, the words of the burial service. Other accounts of Peter’s story say it took place on a cold, moonless winter’s night.
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All Saints Church Wakefield, 1824, drawn by C. Mountain, engraved by T. Higham.

[image: ]

An interior view of All Saints Church Wakefield, 1824, by J.C. Buckler and T. Higham.

Anyway, alone in the tower, with only the light of a single candle, Peter chipped away at his work, occasionally glancing through the doors into the darkness of the nave, discerning no sound, and returning to the job in hand as he whistled the tune of a psalm or two to pass the time. His task was a tedious one, but he could afford no mistakes, so he went about it slowly, accompanied by the chimes of the ninth, tenth and eleventh hours, each marked by the bell in the clock tower. As midnight approached, the waning wax of his candle limiting the time that remained before total darkness rendered his occupation useless, Peter thought about going home, but he just had a few more letters to carve. He brought the candle closer so he could check his work in the fading light. It was then that the tones of midnight rang out, and when they subsided Peter heard a frightful hissing. Agitated by this sudden, strange noise, he looked about him but could not discern the source. It grew louder, an unnatural sound that seemed to be accompanied by a most unexpected, and not altogether pleasant, smell. Was this a sign from the Almighty? A warning not to break the Sabbath? Had some ghost been sent to drag him to his end? Down went hammer and chisel, the clatter echoing through the church as Peter snuffed out his candle and beat a hasty retreat. So familiar was he with the interior of the parish church, he almost floated through the nave and out of the west door without disturbing a single hymnal, before turning the handle to his front door and collapsing into his favourite chair.

[image: ]

Wakefield Cathedral interior in 2015, following extensive restoration to the nave and the removal of fixed seating.

Lidia had waited up, knowing her husband would welcome a warm drink on his return. Upon seeing his ashen face, she couldn’t hide her concern.

‘Tha’ looks as tho’ tha’s sin a ghost, Peter,’ she cried.

‘Nay, old girl,’ came his shaken reply, as he proceeded to tell his tale. ‘Not seen, but heard!’

When he’d finished recalling his grim account, Lidia walked to the chair and knelt to the level of her husband’s face.

‘I don’t think tha’s heard any such ghoul; it’s thy wig. Tha’s burnt half of the right side off with thy candle!’

‘Oh, praise be to God,’ exclaimed the relieved sexton, and he resolved to dispose of the wig first thing the next day.

The exterior of the tower, with its lofty spire, is probably the landmark most familiar to Wakefield folk and regular visitors to the city. It was reported that when restoration work was undertaken in the nineteenth century, work that saw the spire removed for repairs, some passengers aboard steam trains approaching Wakefield stations refused to believe they had arrived at their destination when they discerned no tower, no spire and no weathervane on the horizon. It was during these periods of renovation when a number of notable events occurred.

George H. Crowther, giving a short account of ‘this ancient and important town’ in an 1886 publication, described how the original height of the spire exceeded 125 feet, its walls being 10 inches thick. In 1715, strong winds blew away a third of the spire, with the weather vane similarly falling victim to the gale. The subsequent rebuilding work was considered satisfactory until 1802, when it was found that further repairs would be required. Then in 1823, an inspection of the tower was ordered.

In June that year scaffolding was installed around the spire and the weathervane was removed. The vane was described as looking like a ‘farm-yard poultry cock’ by Wakefield writer John Hewitt, who, in 1862, published the first volume of his legendary and apparently incomplete series, The History & Topography of the Parish of Wakefield and its Environs, the final volume of which ends on page 402 in the middle of a sentence about Sandal Castle! Hewitt’s writing, less known than Walker’s, offers a more personal insight into Wakefield’s history, complete with poetry, vivid reflection and perhaps not a little colourful conjecture. The volumes themselves, in their original form (the city library possesses a photocopy of the majority of pages in modern binding), are complete with several pages of coloured adverts describing the wares of Wakefield traders, such as Thomas Hawley of 152 Westgate, who manufactured and sold Scott’s ‘celebrated’ Wakefield biscuits. There was also Henry Walker’s garment dying, cleaning and scouring business at Tavern and Legh Streets at Primrose Hill in the town; John Todd’s premises at Crown Court, Chancery Lane, where Mr Todd sold barometers, thermometers, galvanic machines and batteries, books, time pieces and philosophical lamps; and notices advertising Mr Hewitt’s own business, for he was a fancy goods dealer at 72 Westgate. Hewitt offered all manner of services including letterpress printing, tickets for steam ships bound for New York, ‘Christmas Amusements’ and, ‘coming in February 1864’, a ‘large and choice stock of French and English valentines and poetry cards’. Enumerated in the 1871 census, John Hewitt, then residing at Horbury, recorded that he was ‘author of the History of Wakefield, miscellaneous poems &c., newspaper reporter, news & shipping agent, hair dresser, perfumer, and tea and tobacco dealer’. His continuing series of Wakefield history was reviewed in the July–December 1866 volume of Notes and Queries: A medium of inter-communication for literary men, general readers, etc. The reviewer described Hewitt as a ‘tradesman in comparatively humble circumstances, and entirely self-educated’ who wrote with enthusiasm about his native town. The critic went on to remark that though Hewitt ‘occasionally falls into ludicrous mistakes and peculiarities of style, he nevertheless manages to present his readers with a great deal of interesting local matter which would otherwise fall into oblivion.’

For all his eccentricities, Hewitt’s accounts of the spire (and a great many other Wakefield topics) are worthy of note. He remembered how the weathervane, after it was removed in 1823, was taken on a tour of the town’s streets, with this curious parade set to music as a band accompanied the procession, treating the assembled crowds to their favourite tunes. An eminent Hull-based architect, Charles Mountain, who added the impressive façade to Beverley Guildhall in 1832, came to Wakefield to carry out the inspection. He recommended that the steeple be restored to its original height, and Hewitt recalled that the work was completed by that October. With some sadness Hewitt remarked that the weathercock was replaced by an arrow, but this did not carry out its purpose, becoming stuck. Before the scaffolding was taken down, Hewitt said that on 10 October, an Altofts maltster, Joseph Dennison, climbed the structure and ascended to the very top of the steeple. There he ‘cleverly performed several dangerous feats of agility, such as standing upon his head, at the top of one of the scaffold poles!’ Hewitt’s memories also included witnessing a band who assembled in the same place to play what he described as sweet music which ‘resounded most charmingly through the mid-air’. But later that century, more work would be required to improve the spire.
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An engraving of the spire of All Saints’ Church, from George H. Crowther, 1886.
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Wakefield Cathedral tower and spire.

On 4 April 1857, the Leeds Times ran the following report:


THE SPIRE OF THE PARISH CHURCH – We are glad to find that some steps are being taken to render the beautiful spire of this church perfectly safe – a condition in which it has not been for the last twenty years. A public meeting of the inhabitants was held on Wednesday, in the vestry, for the purpose of taking preliminary measures for repairing the tower of the edifice, taking down and re-building the spire, and for re-searing the body of the church, &c. The Rev the Vicar presided, and after stating the desirability of accomplishing the above objects, an estimate of the cost was laid before the meeting, showing that the amount required would be about £8,000, which it was proposed to raise by public subscription. After some discussion, the meeting adjourned until the 16th instant, at which time the Bishop of Ripon is expected to be in attendance. The Vicar and Church-wardens were chosen as a committee for the time being, with power to add to their number.



The architect, George Gilbert Scott, soon to be knighted, was appointed by the committee and asked to produce a report recommending exactly what restoration work he felt should be undertaken. As part of his findings, he advised the committee to remove the spire. For a time, after the tower had been re-cased in stone, the new tower was topped by the old spire.

In March 1860, scaffolding was duly erected, and the Leeds Intelligencer reported, in August that year, that the contractor was ‘very diligently pursuing the task of erecting a very handsome spire on the parish church, so that the distinctive mark of Wakefield, which has long been missed by passers-by, will, we believe, very shortly be restored in its pristine beauty and dimensions.’ The publication went on to convey the hope that the work would be completed apace and ‘public spirit will not long suffer the somewhat incongruous spectacle of a new spire tacked to an old edifice.’

The temptation of climbing the scaffolding was too great for some, and the site became a veritable fairground attraction as townsfolk competed to execute the most daring, dangerous and daft stunts. Soon the final stone of the old spire was removed, and the first stone of the new one was laid by Mrs Camidge, the vicar’s wife. A new weathervane was installed, another farmyard cock, within which was placed a piece of parchment, upon which, Hewitt claimed, was written the names of local officials. Before the scaffolding was entirely taken away, some adventurous folk climbed it to mount the weathervane. The Leeds Times reported on 11 May 1861, under the headline ‘FOOLHARDINESS’, how even after the final piece of scaffold had been removed, a couple of workmen, determined to ascend to the summit, climbed up the crockets and descended without injury to their persons. The newspaper explained that ‘their rash adventure has excited a great deal of indignation in the town’ and Hewitt wrote that thousands had borne witness to it.

No doubt many of these onlookers were present when a Wakefield hairdresser, George Roberts, a married man in his fifties who lived at Red Lion Yard, Kirkgate, took a customer, William Abson, a Wakefield joiner, to the top of the steeple. At the summit, Mr Roberts proceeded to shave the man, who was positioned precariously upon an upturned bucket!

The new weathercock, like its predecessor, failed in its purpose and refused to move, so in July 1862 it was removed and made heavier. The job of bringing it down and replacing it fell to three steeplejacks from Manchester. The men were skilled in the art of kite flying and as they proceeded to remove the weathercock, they gave the folk of Wakefield, who’d taken to the streets in great numbers, a fine aerial exhibition. The steeplejacks tied a rope to the highest stone of the church steeple and guided their kite on a mid-air route that took in Northgate, Westmorland Street, Teal Street, Westgate and Southgate, with the purpose of securing the rope tightly around the steeple. By using a pulley system and a small wooden seat, the men took down the weathercock within just twenty minutes, replacing it the following Tuesday. Though they made it look easy, ascending and descending the building in this way was a serious business. Thankfully, nobody came to any harm on that occasion, but this was not always so.

On 4 August 1892, the York Herald ran a story titled ‘SHOCKING DEATH OF A STEEPLE JACK AT WAKEFIELD’. A Huddersfield man was working on a chimney at Marriott’s worsted mill at Balne Lane when brickwork gave way and he fell the distance of 57 feet, and was found ‘quite dead’ in a weaving shed.
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Even in the days before proper consideration was given to safety at work, the precarious positions taken by these men must have turned the stomachs of those watching below.

A similar incident was reported in December 1899 when the Western Times told of the death of two men who fell 200 feet from scaffolding that broke under their feet while they were removing the final stone from the top of a chimney stack at Wakefield Prison.

Today, safely secured fundraisers take to the spire and abseil to the ground in return for donations, which are gifted to a variety of charities and the Cathedral restoration fund.

The restoration overseen by Gilbert Scott was finally completed in 1886, though some of the work was finished by 1874, when a reopening ceremony was held on Wednesday, 3 November. It was described by a correspondent from the Sheffield Daily Telegraph:


In the morning there was a celebration of the Holy Communion, at which 104 communicants were present. Shortly after eleven o’clock in the forenoon a procession was formed at the Church Institute and moved along the crowded streets to the Church. The procession consisted of the Borough and West Riding magistrates and their clerks, the borough member (Mr T.K. Sanderson), the mayors of Wakefield and Pontefract, the clergy, the choir, the Restoration Committee, the clerk of works, the contractors, the gentry, &c. The church, which presented a magnificent appearance, was crammed in every part, and hundreds of persons were unable to gain admission. The service, which occupied exactly two hours, was of a most interesting character, and the musical portion of it was admirably rendered by a choir of between forty and fifty voices under the direction of Fred Dykes, Esq. A lengthy, eloquent, and most appropriate sermon was preached by the Bishop of Ripon from the first verse of the 122nd Psalm. At the close of a most interesting and impressive service a collection was made towards a debt of about £2,000 on the restoration fund, and no less than £218 was realized. At two o’clock in the afternoon an excellent public luncheon was provided in the saloon of the Corn Exchange. The Bishop of Ripon presided, and there was an influential gathering, consisting of between 400 and 500 ladies and gentlemen. The Bishop proposed the usual loyal toasts, and a number of complimentary toasts were given. In the course of the proceedings Mr R.B. Mackie promised to give £250 towards the extinction of the debt of £2,000, Mr T.K. Sanderson promised £100, and Mr Haigh, the Mayor, £50. In the afternoon there was a sale of work by the teachers, at the Church Institute, and in the evening another service was held in the church.
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Abseiling at the Cathedral in 2014. By courtesy of Terry Rochford.

The final improvements to the ancient building were seen in October 1886. As part of the changes and new work, the vestry was removed to the northeast end, walls and buttresses were rebuilt, the old north and south galleries were removed (traces of these can be seen today) and work was undertaken on the then east window.

In September 1886, the Liverpool

OEBPS/images/ufig_1.jpg





OEBPS/images/ufig_7.jpg





OEBPS/images/ufig_8.jpg





OEBPS/images/cover.jpg
THEN  NOW,

<
THE MERRIE CITY

MIGHAEL J. ROCHEORD.





OEBPS/images/ufig_2.jpg





OEBPS/images/ufig_3.jpg





OEBPS/images/ufig_4.jpg





OEBPS/images/ufig_5.jpg





OEBPS/images/ufig_6.jpg





OEBPS/images/title.jpg
Wakefield Then & Now

Extraordinary Tales from the Merrie City

Michael J. Rochford






